1966

# Joseph Terry Siebold v. John W. Turner, Warden, Utah State Prison : Brief of Appellant

### STATEMENT OF NATURE OF CASE

The petitioner - appellant, Joseph Terry Siebold, appeals from a judgment of the District Court of Salt Lake County, dismissing appellants complaint for a writ of habeas corpus against respondent.

### DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT:

Petitioner - appellant filed a Complaint for Writ of Habeas Corpus in the District Court in and for Salt Lake County, on November 19, 1965. The respondent, John W. Turner, Warden of the Utah State Prison, answered the Complaint for Writ of Habeas Corpus on the 6th day of December, 1965 by and through Phil L. Hanson, Attorney General of Utah. A pre-trial was held on the 3rd day of December, 1965 and

a pre-trial order signed and entered by Judge Aldon J. Anderson on the 7th day of December, 1965. On the 6th day of January, 1966, a hearing was held on the matter and after making Findings of Fact and Conclusion of Law on the 11th day of January, 1966, Judge Aldon J. Anderson entered Judgment against petitioner-appellant, dismissing his Application and Complaint for Writ of Habeas Corpus and denying the same.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL.

Appellant submits that the Judgment of the trial court should be reversed and his Application and Complaint for Writ of Habeas Corpus should be granted.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On the 3rd day of August, 1964, appel-



lant and one Dennis J. Demarais were arrested in Uintah County, State of Utah, and charged with the crime of assault with intent to commit murder, pursuant to Section 76-30-14, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, and charged with robbery pursuant to Section 76-51-1, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, (Exhibits D-1 and D-2). On August 4, 1964 they were brought before Justice of the Peace, R. A. McConkie, where the complaints were read to them. (Exhibit D-1 and D-2). At that time, appellant was without funds with which to retain counsel. (R-42). Appellant testified that at the time they were brought before the Justice of the Peace no mention was ever made regarding their right to counsel. (R-42). County Attorney Hammond testified that the Justice of the

peace advised them that if they wanted to talk to an attorney they could have time to do that. (R-88). County Attorney Hammond also advised them they had a right to confer with an attorney but did not tell them that they could do so even though they didn't have any funds. (R-90).

Having waived Preliminary Hearing, Appellant was bound over to the Fourth Judicial District Court and arraignment was set for August 12, 1964. (Exhibits D-1 and D-2). On August 12, 1964, defendants were arraigned before the Hon. Joseph E. Nelson in the Fourth Judicial District Court in and for Uintah County, State of Utah. (Exhibits D-1 and D-2). The court appointed Ray E. Nash, Esq. to represent appellant and Demarais on both charges. (Exhibits D-1 and D-2).

At the arraignment, appellant pleaded guilty to the charge of robbery and was remanded to the custody of the Uintah County Sheriff to be delivered to the court on September 9, 1964 for pronouncement of judgment (Exhibit D-2). At the arraignment, appellant pleaded not guilty to the charge of assault with intent to commit murder and was remanded to the custody of Uintah County Sheriff to be delivered to the court on September 9, 1964, for trial. (Exhibit D-1).

The Fourth Judicial Court, in and for Uintah County, State of Utah, the Hon. Maurice Harding presiding, pronounced judgment on September 9, 1964 on the charge of robbery, to which appellant had previously pleaded

guilty and sentenced him to be confined in the Utah State Prison for an indeterminate period of not less than five years. (Exhibit D-2). On September 9, 1964, appellant changed his plea on the charge of assault with intent to commit murder from not guilty to guilty. (Exhibit D-3). Appellant then waived the time for pronouncement of judgment and the court entered Judgment on September 9, 1964, that appellant be confined in the Utah State Prison for an indeterminate period of not less than five years on the charge of assault with intent to commit murder. (Exhibit D-4). Appellant was then delivered by the Sheriff of Uintah County to the Warden of the Utah State Prison for execution of the Judgments on both charges. (R-26).

Sometime after his arrest on August 3, 1964, and prior to the pronouncement of Judgment on September 9, 1964, appellant waived extradition proceedings to the State of California and was returned to California for investigation of murder. California authorities did not press the investigation for murder and returned appellant to the State of Utah where he was arraigned and judgment pronounced. There is no evidence or record on these facts as the pre-trial order made and entered by the Hon. Aldon J. Anderson precluded the introduction of evidence as to extradition proceedings. (R-9)

POINT I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED  
IN FINDING THAT APPELLANT HAS NOT  
BEEN DEPRIVED OF A STATE OR FEDERAL  
CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT.

Appellants Complaint for Writ of  
Habeas Corpus came on for hearing before the  
Honorable Aldon J. Anderson one of the Judges  
of the Third Judicial District Court in and  
for Salt Lake County. After hearing the testi-  
mony of witnesses, receiving exhibits and hear-  
ing the arguments of counsel, the Honorable  
Judge made his Findings of Fact and Conclusions  
of Law. No finding was made as to when appellant  
was appointed counsel although the record shows  
counsel was appointed by the Uintah County  
District Court at the arraignment on August  
12, 1964 (Exhibit D-4), nine days after appellants  
arrest on August 3, 1964 (Exhibits D-1 and  
D-2). The Honorable Judge found in his

Conclusions of Law that, " . . . they have been deprived of no state or federal constitutional right." (R-16) Based on this conclusion of law, which appellant submits was in error, Judgment was entered in his Complaint for Writ of Habeas Corpus, dismissing the same.

It is clear from the record that at the time of his arrest and at the time he was taken before Justice of the Peace McConkie, he was without funds with which to retain counsel. (R-42) Although it may appear that Justice of the Peace McConkie advised appellant of his right to counsel, it is clear that he was not advised that counsel would be appointed for him if he were without funds. (R-90).

Appellant submits that he was deprived of his right to counsel at critical

stages of the proceedings against him.

Without the aid of counsel he was required to determine whether or not to waive a preliminary hearing (R-89); whether or not to waive extradition proceedings to the State of California and whether or not to waive extradition proceedings back to the State of Utah (the record is devoid of evidence in this regard due to the pre-trial order made by Judge Anderson). (R-8,9). These examples are only the legal matters which appellant was confronted with and do not include other matters which may have necessitated the advice of counsel.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and the Constitution of Utah, Article I, Section 12, provides:



"In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to have the assistance of counsel for his defense."

In Gideon v. Wainwright, 83 Sup.

<sup>372 U.S. 335, 92, 100, 261 799</sup>  
Ct. 792 (1963), the United States Supreme

Court ruled that the right to counsel is one of the fundamental rights of an accused and is obligatory on the states under the 14th Amendment to the United States Constitution. In the Gideon case, the court quoted Justice Southerland in Powell v. Alabama, 287 U.S. 45, 68, 53 Sup. Ct. 55, 64, 77 Law Ed. 158 (1932) as follows:

"The right to be heard would be in many cases of little avail if it did not comprehend the right to be heard by counsel. Even the intelligent and educated layman has small and sometimes no skill in the science of the law. If charged with crime, he is incapable, generally, of determining for himself

"whether the indictment is good or bad. He is unfamiliar with the rule of evidence. Left without the aid of counsel he may be put on trial without a proper charge, and convicted upon incompetent evidence, or evidence irrelevant to the issue or otherwise inadmissible. He lacks both the skill and knowledge adequately to prepare his defense, even though he have a perfect one. He requires the guiding hand of counsel at every step in the proceedings against him. Without it, though he be not guilty, he faces the danger of conviction because he does not know how to establish his innocence." (Emphasis Added).

Under the decision of the court in Gideon v. Wainwright, the states are required to appoint counsel for indigent persons in all criminal prosecutions. The question of when an indigent person has the right to have counsel appointed for him has been considered by this court in State v. Brassch,

19 Utah 450, 229 P.2d 289 (1951). There the defendants claimed that they were deprived of their right to counsel at the preliminary hearing. The record showed that they requested counsel be appointed both at the arraignment and at the preliminary hearing. They were informed that they were entitled to counsel but that until the case went to the District Court they would have to procure such services at their own expense and without the aid of the state.

In the Brassch case, this court

stated at Page 460:

"Thus, at the preliminary hearing the State ought to provide counsel for any defendant desiring but unable to procure counsel for himself. This should have been made clear to the defendants before they de-

"cided whether they were  
ready for the hearing."  
(Emphasis Added).

The court ultimately held that the failure to advise of the right to have counsel for the preliminary hearing, although error, was not prejudicial error. Since the Brassch decision, the Federal Courts have more particularly set forth the extent of an indigent's right to counsel in the early stages of the proceedings against him.

In Harvey v. State of Mississippi, 340 Fed. 2d 263 (5th Cir., 1965) the petitioner sought a Writ of Habeas Corpus on the ground that he was denied due process. The petitioner, Harvey, was convicted on the basis of a guilty plea entered without the assistance of counsel and without being advised of his right to the assistance of

counsel. The court noted that "waiver of such right to counsel" cannot be presumed from the mere fact that the accused appeared without counsel or failed to request counsel.

Connally v. Cochran, 1962, 369 U.S. 506, 82 Sup. Ct. 884, 8 Law Ed.2d 70; Daugherty v. Maxwell, 1964, 376 U.S. 202, 84 Sup. Ct. 702, 11 Law Ed. 650.

The court noted at page 269:

"One accused of crime has the right to the assistance of counsel before entering a plea because of the disadvantageous position of an unassisted layman in a court of law and because of the serious consequences which may attend a guilty plea. Such disadvantages and consequences may weigh as heavily on an accused misdemeanor as on an accused felon. The record reveals that the guilty plea entered in the case at bar had grievous consequences indeed."

In Hamilton v. State of Alabama, 368

U.S. 52, 82 Sup. Ct. 157 (1961) the United States Supreme Court held that the arraignment in the State of Alabama is so critical a stage in the Alabama criminal procedure that denial of counsel at arraignment required reversal of the conviction even though no prejudice was shown. The court noted that at the time of arraignment in Alabama the defense of insanity must be pleaded or it is lost unless it is accepted at the trial judge's discretion. The exercise of this discretion is not appealable. Also, at the time of arraignment pleas in abatement and motions to quash must be raised. The court stated at Page 158:

"Whatever may be the function and importance of arraignment in other jurisdictions, we have said enough to show that in

"Alabama it is a critical stage in a criminal proceeding. What happens there may affect the whole trial. Available defenses may be as irretrievably lost, if not then and there asserted, as they are when an accused represented by counsel waives a right for strategic purposes."

The court, quoting from prior Supreme Court cases stated:

"An accused in a capital case requires the guiding hand of counsel at every step in the proceedings against him. Without it, though he be not guilty, he faces the danger of conviction because he does not know how to establish his innocence. The guiding hand of counsel is needed at the trial lest the unwary concede that which only bewilderment or ignorance could justify or pay a penalty which is greater than the law of the state exacts for the offense which they in fact in law committed. But the same pitfalls, or like

"ones, face an accused in Alabama who was arraigned without counsel at his side. When one pleads to a capital charge without benefit of counsel, we do not stop to determine whether prejudice resulted. (citing cases) In this case, as in those, the degree of prejudice can never be known. Only the presence of counsel could have enabled this accused to know all the defenses available to him and to plead intelligently."

Upon the foregoing, the United States Supreme Court reversed the ruling of the Alabama Supreme Court.

In White v. The State of Maryland, 373 U.S. 59, 83 Sup. Ct. 1050, 10 L.Ed. 2d 193 (1963), the United States Supreme Court held that under Maryland law the denial of the defendant's right to counsel at the preliminary hearing necessitated the reversal of his conviction for murder. In that case



the petitioner was arrested and brought before a Magistrate for a preliminary hearing at which time he plead guilty to the charge of murder. Thereafter, at what Maryland calls the arraignment, the petitioner had counsel appointed for him and entered a plea of not guilty and not guilty by reason of insanity. However, at his trial, the plea of guilty made at his preliminary hearing was introduced in evidence against him. It was contended that under Maryland Law there was no requirement of any practicable possibility under the present criminal procedure to appoint counsel for the petitioner at the preliminary hearing, and it was necessary for the petitioner to enter a plea at that time.

The court stated at Page 1051:

"Whatever may be the normal function of the preliminary hearing under Maryland law, it was in this case as critical a stage as arraignment under Alabama law. For petitioner entered a plea before the Magistrate and that plea was taken at the time when he had no counsel.

"We repeat what we said in Hamilton v. Alabama, supra, at 55, 82 Sup. Ct. at 159, that we do not stop to determine whether prejudice resulted:

'only the presence of counsel could have enabled this accused to know all the defenses available to him and to plead intelligently!

"We therefore hold that Hamilton v. Alabama governs and the judgment below must be and is reversed."

Appellant respectfully submits that

under the holdings of Hamilton v. Alabama, supra, and White v. State of Maryland, appellant's

arraignment before the Justice of the Peace was such a "critical stage" in the criminal proceedings against him as to require the appointment of counsel. As stated in a paper by Ronald I. Meshbesher:

"The initial appearance or arraignment before a Magistrate may, in addition to pleading, involve a decision whether to waive preliminary examination and the setting of bail. In some situations it might be beneficial to waive the preliminary examination, but in most cases it is an excellent device for discovery. In any event, the strategy to be employed can most effectively be determined by counsel. The lawyer may also aid his client in seeing that the bail set is not excessive or perhaps even have the defendant released without bail. Thus, for purposes of strategy or possible early release, the initial appearance or arraignment is a 'critical stage' and under the rational of Hamilton and White an offer of appointed

"counsel and advising of the right to retain counsel is constitutionally required."

The Hennepin, Vol. 35/No.6, p.

88.

As Professor Kamisar has stated, there exists a

". . . (G)atehouse of American criminal procedure--through which most defendants journey and beyond which many never get-- (where) the enemy of the state is a depersonalized 'subject' to be 'sized up' and subjected to 'interrogation tactics and techniques most appropriate for the occasion'; he is 'game' to be stalked and cornered. Here ideals are checked at the door, 'realities' faced, and the prestige of law enforcement vindicated. Once he leaves the 'gatehouse' and enters the 'mansion'--if he ever gets there--the enemy of the state is repersonalized, even dignified, the public invited, and a stirring ceremony in honor of individual

"freedom from law enforcement celebrated."

Kamisar, Equal Justice in the Gatehouses and Mansions of American Criminal Procedure, in Kamisar, Inbau & Sowle, Criminal Justice in Our Time, 20 (1965) (Magna Carta Essays).

Utah does not come expressly within the holding of the White case inasmuch as Utah does not permit the entering of a plea at the preliminary hearing. At that hearing the defendant may make a statement, not under oath, after being informed of his right to remain silent without risking later comment on his silence and after being informed of the admissibility of a statement against him at trial. (Utah Code Annotated, Sec. 77-15-35) However, at the preliminary hearing and at the request of the prosecutor, the Magistrate must order the transcription

of testimony which may be admitted at trial, thus possibly depriving the defendant of his opportunity for cross examination at a trial by jury. As Professor Mazor so ably put it in the Utah Law Review, Vol. 9, p. 68:

"Even if it be thought that characterization of the preliminary examination as critical can be avoided where no such testimony is taken or obviated through deletion of this provision, there are broader aspects of the use of the preliminary hearing which suggest the necessity of providing counsel. Whereas some states have provided for discovery in criminal cases, apart from the preliminary examination Utah has not. Thus, the occasion which it affords for the pre-trial examination of witnesses upon compulsory process is a unique and irretrievable opportunity for the defense. Nor would it seem that a rule of prejudicial error can be applied in this context, for

"it is forever unknowable what information counsel might have gleaned from the preliminary examination."

It is clear from the Hamilton decisions and other decisions in the same line of cases that the court does not look to whether or not the accused was prejudiced by his lack of counsel. The mere fact that his constitutional rights were denied is sufficient reason to overrule the judgment of the trial court.

### CONCLUSION

Appellant showed by creditable evidence in the Court below that he was deprived of his constitutional right to the advice of counsel at the critical stages of the criminal proceedings against him. Counsel was not appointed for him until the proceedings had reached the District Court level. By that time, matters which may have materially aided his defense had already been lost to him and it must be presumed that he was prejudiced thereby.

Appellant respectfully submits that the trial court erred in concluding that he had been deprived of no constitutional rights



and dismissing his Complaint for Writ of Habeas Corpus. The trial court should be reversed and appellant's Writ of Habeas Corpus granted.