1966

## Joseph Terry Siebold v. John W. Turner, Warden, Utah State Prison : Brief of Respondent

### STATEMENT OF NATURE OF CASE

Appellant, Joseph Terry Siebold, appeals from a judgment of the Third District Court, Salt Lake County, State of Utah, Aldon J. Anderson, Judge, denying his petition for a writ of habeas corpus.

### DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Appellant filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus in the Third District Court on November 19, 1965. Pretrial was held December 3, 1965, and a hearing was held January 6, 1966, before the Honorable Aldon J. Anderson. Judgment was entered January 11, 1966, denying the petition based on the court's findings of fact and conclusions of law.

## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Respondent submits that the judgment of the trial court should be affirmed.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Respondent accepts the statement of facts as presented in appellant's brief.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

**THERE IS NO SHOWING THAT APPELLANT HAS BEEN DEPRIVED OF ANY FEDERAL OR STATE CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS.**

**A. APPELLANT KNOWINGLY AND INTELLIGENTLY WAIVED HIS LEGAL RIGHT TO PRELIMINARY EXAMINATION.**

**B. THERE IS NO SHOWING THAT APPELLANT WAS DENIED HIS RIGHT TO COUNSEL.**

The record shows that appellant and his co-defendant had discussed the matter of a preliminary examination prior to appearing before the committing magistrate and that they had decided against it. (R. 64) It is clear from the record that the committing magistrate, R. A. McConkie, justice of the peace in Uintah County, advised the defendants of their right to a preliminary examination and the nature of preliminary examinations. Appellant was also advised that he had a right to counsel. (R. 88-89) Appellant thereupon waived preliminary hearing.

(R. 89) It is not denied that neither defendant was represented by counsel at this time.

At the time set for arraignment in the Fourth Judicial District, Judge Joseph E. Nelson requested of the defendants whether they wished to be represented by counsel. They answered in the affirmative and a continuance of thirty minutes was granted for a conference with Ray E. Nash, court appointed counsel.

During that conference, Mr. Nash told both appellant and Mr. Desmarais that they had waived preliminary examination and that if they wanted one it would be granted by the court. Counsel then explained what a preliminary examination consisted of saying, "We will just merely parade their witnesses and get all the story from all the witnesses they have." (R. 94)

The defendants decided to plead guilty to the robbery charge because, as they said, "they got us dead-to-rights so there's no need to go into that." (.94) The defendants also decided not to have a preliminary hearing on the charge of assault with intent to commit murder. (R. 95).

Thereafter, appellant was given an additional opportunity to discuss at length with Mr. Nash the merits of the State's case against him; however, appellant again decided against having a preliminary hearing.

Although appellant was not represented by counsel at the time he first waived preliminary ex-

amination, his failure to request a preliminary examination following appointment of counsel, who advised him that he could recall preliminary examination, negates his claim that he was denied his legal rights to a preliminary hearing.

In **McGuffey v. Turner**, 18 U.2d 354 at 356, 423 P.2d 166 at 167 (1967), this court, in reversing a District Court ruling granting a writ of habeas corpus, stated:

It is the practice in the trial courts of this state to remand a criminal case for preliminary hearing when the defendant requests it at arraignment when the preliminary hearing has been theretofor waived. It is rather difficult to see how a guilty defendant is prejudiced by waiving a preliminary hearing when all that is entailed at the hearing is that sufficient evidence be given to the committing magistrate to cause him to believe the defendant guilty thereof.

This court has held in **State v. Freeman**, 94 Utah 125, 71 P.2d 196 (1937), that before a defendant can be bound over to District Court he is entitled to a preliminary examination unless, with consent of the state, he waives such hearing. If such hearing is waived, defendant thereby implies that the evidence the State would have produced would have been sufficient to justify the magistrate holding him for arraignment. The defendant thereby consents that he be held for trial, and no witnesses need be produced.

Appellant cites **Hamilton v. Alabama**, 368 U.S. 52 (1961) and **White v. Maryland**, 373 U.S. 59 (1963) for the proposition that failure to appoint counsel

prior to appellant's waiving preliminary examination requires reversal of the conviction even though no prejudice has been shown.

In **Hamilton**, the court held that arraignment could be a "critical stage" when, as in Alabama, the defendant, if he is to raise the defense of insanity at all, must raise it then. In **White**, the accused, unrepresented by counsel at a preliminary hearing, entered a plea of guilty to a capitol offense. Thereafter, he entered a plea of not guilty at the time of his arraignment. The plea of guilty was offered in evidence at the trial. The United State Supreme Court said that in view of the fact that a plea could be entered at the time of a preliminary hearing, and was in fact entered, a preliminary hearing in this situation was a "critical stage."

In **DeToro v. Peppersack**, 332 F.2d 341 (4th Cir. 1964), the court ruled that under Maryland law, as modified since the **White** decision, a preliminary hearing was not a critical stage of the judicial process as defenses not raised were not irretrievably lost. Therefore, failure to appoint counsel prior to preliminary examination did not violate the accused's constitutional rights. At 332 F.2d 343 the court said:

In our view, **Hamilton** and **White** teach that an accused is denied rights afforded him under the sixth amendment when he is subjected to an arraignment or to a preliminary hearing without the assistance of counsel, where events transpire that are likely to prejudice his ensuing trial . . . .  
 . . . the thrust of **Powell's [Powell v. Alabama, 287**

U.S. 45 (1932)] admonition that an accused has a right to counsel 'at every step in the proceedings against him,' as borne out by subsequent decisions, including *Hamilton* and *White*, seems to be that if the effectiveness of legal assistance ultimately furnished an accused is likely to be prejudiced by its prior denial, the earlier period may be deemed a critical stage in the judicial process and a conviction obtained in such circumstances is rendered invalid. We find nothing in the Supreme Court decisions, however, that would permit us to extend the duty of the State to appoint counsel in proceedings where even the likelihood of later prejudice arising from the failure to appoint is absent.

It should be noted that the United States Court of Appeals for the Tenth Circuit in **Latham v. Crouse**, 320 F.2d 120 (1963), handed down subsequent to both **White** and **Hamilton**, ruled that an accused has no constitutional right to be furnished counsel at a preliminary hearing in a state court capital case. In that case, two individuals by the names of Latham and York were responsible for a series of killings throughout the United States, and were tried and convicted of murder in Kansas after being apprehended in Utah. The Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals relied on its previous decision in **Utah v. Sullivan**, 227 F.2d 511 (10th Cir. 1952), stating:

The first contention is that petitioners were entitled to have counsel appointed for them prior to the preliminary examination. Heavy reliance is placed on the decision of the United States Supreme Court in **Gideon v. Wainwright, Corrections Director**, 372 U.S. 385, 83 S.Ct. 792, 9 L.Ed.2d 799. That case concerned the right of an accused to counsel at trial — not at a preliminary hearing. In **State v. Sullivan**, in **State of Utah v. Sullivan**, 10 Cir., 227 F.2d 511, 513, certiorari denied, sub nom. **Braasch v. Utah**, 350 U.S. 973 S.Ct. 449, 100 L.Ed 844, we

held that in circumstances where an accused did not enter a plea of guilty at a preliminary hearing, did not make a confession, did not testify and did not say anything of an incriminating nature, the failure to furnish counsel at such hearing did not abridge that accused's fundamental constitutional rights. That decision is controlling here. No claim is made of any incriminating statements or acts of the petitioner at the preliminary examination. All they did was waive the right to a preliminary hearing. Prejudice is asserted on the ground that counsel would have forced the prosecution to disclose at least some of its evidence. The point is not well taken as more than a month in advance of trial copies of the confessions and list of the prosecution witnesses were given defense counsel. Our conclusions in **State of Utah v. Sullivan** are supported by the decisions of other circuits. We find nothing in **Gideon v. Wainwright** which requires a review of the decision in **State of Utah v. Sullivan**.

This holding was reiterated recently in **Lovato v. Cox**, 344 F.2d 916 (10th Cir. 1965) a per curium opinion. The court noted that the preliminary proceedings were entirely independent of the prisoner's formal arraignment and sentencing, and at the time of preliminary hearing, the prisoner had already signed a statement. He appeared before a justice of the peace without counsel and thereafter at the time of arraignment entered a plea of guilty. The court concluded the prisoner was in no way deprived of any constitutional right.

It is submitted that under Utah law a preliminary hearing is not a "critical stage" and that appellant was in no way denied his constitutional rights when without counsel he first waived preliminary hearing.

**Gideon v. Wainwright**, 372 U.S. 385 (1963), is not in point. "That case concerned the right of an accused to counsel at trial—not a preliminary hearing." **Latham v. Crouse**, 320 F.2d 120 (1963).

In **State v. Braasch**, 119 Utah 450, 224 P.2d 289 (1951), the court held, as appellant acknowledges, that the failure to have counsel for preliminary hearing was not prejudicial.

Utah Code Ann. § 77-16-2 (1953) provides:

No defect or irregularity in or want or absence of any proceeding or statutory requirement, prior to the filing of an information or indictment, **including the preliminary hearing**, shall constitute prejudicial error and the defendant shall be conclusively presumed to have waived any such defect, irregularity, want or absence of proceeding or statutory requirement, unless he shall before pleading to the information or indictment specifically and expressly object to the information or indictment on such ground . . . (Emphasis added.)

Appellant asserts that he was prejudiced on the ground that preliminary examination would have forced the State to disclose some of its evidence. It is submitted that the point is not well taken as appellant pleaded guilty to the charge of robbery because he knew he was guilty and that the State could prove it.

Appellant entered his plea of guilty to the charge of assault with intent to commit murder after three weeks during which time appellant's attorney interviewed witnesses and looked into the State's case. It was on the advice of appellant's attorney to the effect that the State had a strong case against

him that appellant changed his plea from not guilty to guilty. See **Latham v. Crouse**, pages 7 and 8. Appellant has not demonstrated that he was in any way prejudiced by the proceedings in this case.

Respondent submits that defendant's unsupported testimony is not sufficient proof to establish appellant's contention that he did not intelligently and voluntarily waive preliminary hearing.

This court in **McGuffey v. Turner**, 18 U.2 354 at 359, 423 P.2d 166 at 169 (1967), cites favorably the Kansas case of **Wilson v. Hand**, 181 Kan. 483, 311 P.2d 1009 (1957), which said:

The rule is well established that the standard of proof necessary to justify the issuance of a writ of habeas corpus is not met by uncorroborated and unsupported statements of the petitioner.

It is submitted that where the petitioner relies on his testimony and that of his co-defendant to establish that he did not intelligently and voluntarily waive preliminary hearing, the burden of proof is not met where there is reliable testimony to the contrary indicating that they did intelligently and voluntarily waive preliminary hearing. In the instant case, the testimony of Ray E. Nash demonstrates that appellant did intelligently and voluntarily waive preliminary hearing.

In support of his contention that he was prejudiced by waiving preliminary hearing without the advise of counsel, appellant cites **Harvey v. State of Mississippi**, 340 F.2d 263 (5th Cir.) (1965); **Carnley v.**

**Cochran**, 369 U.S. 506 (1962); and **Doughty v. Maxwell**, 376 U.S. 202 (1964).

Respondent submits that the decision in **Harvey** is not in point as Harvey, a Negro, did not obtain counsel until after he had entered a plea of guilty to the charge of illegal possession of whisky, which plea, when accepted, became final.

**Carnley** is not in point as the case deals with the right to counsel at trial and the decision holds that a waiver of right to counsel cannot be presumed from a silent record.

Nor is **Doughty v. Maxwell**, *supra*, in point. See **Doughty v. Sacks**, 173 Ohio St. 407, 183 N.E.2d. 368 (1962). Doughty was indicted by a grand jury for rape and, after psychiatric examination, pleaded guilty without the aid of counsel. The United States Supreme Court relies on **Carnley v. Cochran**, *supra*, and **Gideon v. Wainwright**, *supra*, for its decision in this case.

## POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR AS A MATTER OF LAW IN EXCLUDING FROM THE RECORD ALL REFERENCE TO EXTRADITION PROCEEDINGS EXCEPT AS THEY MIGHT EFFECT APPELLANT'S PLEAS OF GUILTY.

Appellant argues that the trial court erred in excluding all reference to appellant's waiver of extradition to California and his subsequent waiver of extradition back to Utah between the time of his arrest

on August 3, 1964, and pronouncement of judgment on September 9, 1964.

In **State v. Stewart**, 87 Idaho 210, 392 P.2d 180 (1964), the court held that the forum state may try the accused regardless of the manner in which he is returned to the state.

In **Thompson v. State**, 197 Kan. 360, 419 P.2d 891 (1966), the court held that the jurisdiction of the Kansas district court to the person on a charge of having committed a public offense does not depend on how he came into the state.

In **People v. Wilson**, 106 C.A.2d 716, 236 P.2d 9 (1951), **cert. den.** 342 U.S. 915 (1962), the California Court of Appeals said that jurisdiction over the person of an accused is not affected by the way it is acquired, or the manner by which the accused is brought into the court.

In **State v. Wise**, 58 N.M. 164, 267 P.2d 992 (1954), the New Mexico Supreme Court said that where a person accused of a crime is found within a territorial jurisdiction where he is charged, the jurisdiction of the court where the charge is pending is not impaired by the fact that the defendant is brought from another jurisdiction by illegal means.

Respondent submits that it is the purpose of extradition proceedings to prevent the successful escape of any person who has been accused of a crime; and, since this is the purpose of extradition proceedings, it is submitted that none of the appellant's constitutional and legal rights were violated.

**Johnson v. Matthews**, 182 F.2d 657, **cert. den.** 340 U.S. 828 (1950).

A person who has been extradited from one state to another and then subsequently extradited and brought back to the first state cannot, after he is once again held by the first state, inquire into the legality of his extradition back to that state, or into the right of the first state to his custody after his committment to a penal institution therein. **Dear v. State of Ohio**. 107 F.Supp. 937 (D.C.W.VA. 1952). See also 35 C.J.S. Extradition § 21(b).

Respondent submits that appellant, as a matter of record, was within the jurisdiction and the presence of the court which arraigned and pronounced sentence on him. There was no way, as a matter of law, for appellant to challenge the court's jurisdiction over him. It is submitted, therefore, that the trial court did not err in refusing to allow the issue of jurisdiction to be brought before the court except as it might affect appellant's pleas of guilty to the crimes charged. Respondent submits that the trial court's order should be affirmed.

Even had appellant raised the issue of jurisdiction in the trial court, he could not have successfully argued that Utah, by allowing California authorities to extradite him, had waived jurisdiction. Utah Code Ann. § 77-56-25 (c) (1953) provides:

**Nothing in this act contained shall be deemed to constitute a waiver by the state of its right, power**

or privilege to try such demanded person for crime committed within this state, or of its right, power or privilege to regain custody of such person by extradition proceedings or otherwise for the purpose of trial, sentence or punishment for any crime committed in this state, or shall any proceedings had under this act which result in extradition be deemed a waiver by this state of any of it's rights, privileges or jurisdiction in any way whatsoever.

This statute is a part of the Uniform Criminal Extradition Act and has also been adopted by California. See California Penal Code § 1555.2. The California Supreme Court in **In Re Satterfield**, 50 Cal. Rptr. 284, 412 P.2d 540 (1966), said that a waiver of jurisdiction is not to be automatically implied in all cases where the state transfers a prisoner to the custody of another sovereign. The state shall not be deemed to have waived jurisdiction unless evidence demonstrates an intentional waiver.

It appears that under Utah law the state did not waive jurisdiction over the appellant when it allowed extradition to California.

## CONCLUSION

Respondent submits that appellant voluntarily and intelligently waived his right to preliminary hearing. Further, a preliminary hearing is not a "critical stage" of the proceeding and appellant has failed to demonstrate that he was prejudiced by his waiver thereof. The trial court did not err by refusing

to allow into evidence any of the extradition proceedings. Respondent submits that the trial court's denial of appellant's petition for writ of habeas corpus should be affirmed.